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For there is always light,


if only we’re brave enough to see it.


If only we’re brave enough to be it.


—AMANDA GORMAN


“You can’t grow a new heart. But when you have a big piece torn away,


you can either fill it with anger and rage, or you can fill it with love.


I just have to try and choose love.”


—EVE NICHOL, POLLY’S MOTHER
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Author’s Note



ONE SUNDAY IN JULY 2021, I USHERED TWO RETIRED FBI SPECIAL AGENTS INTO my living room in Boise, Idaho. We’d never met in person, but I had been studying their work for more than six years. One of them lifted the kidnapper’s latent palm print from Polly Klaas’s bedroom. The other interrogated the killer, who confessed to the murder of Polly Klaas and led him to her body. These two investigators played key roles in one of the most famous kidnappings in true-crime history. But their names were missing from everything I’d seen published about the case.


We settled into my living room to study the videotaped confession, pausing the tape repeatedly to analyze interrogation techniques and signs of deception. For me, it was like a live “director’s cut,” narrated by deep insiders.


Larry Taylor, the agent interviewing Richard Allen Davis on the tape, was now eighty years old, a barrel-shaped Texan with a dry sense of humor and a Dallas drawl. He had not seen this tape in almost three decades. Tony Maxwell, a lead forensic agent on the case, had never seen the confession.


I’d spoken to Tony by phone for years. But I had never been able to locate Larry. Tony easily found him—living right across town from me.


When I first interviewed Tony on Skype in 2016, he wept openly, recalling the impact Polly Klaas had made on his profession, his career, and his heart. Over the subsequent seven years, he supported my quest to ensure this narrative was comprehensive and accurate. He sent me primary sources, helped me understand documents, and tracked down other insiders, convincing them to help me.


“Tony, you’ve never talked to the press before,” I said one day. “Why are you talking to me?”


He smiled. “Because you’re family.”1
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I AM THE daughter-in-law of Eddie Freyer,2 the FBI case agent in charge of the Polly Klaas investigation. Because of Eddie’s blessing, people like Tony and Larry—deep FBI insiders who rarely speak to reporters—not only went on the record with me, but went out of their way to help me. They provided unrestricted access to themselves and their primary source materials, but never presumed editorial control. Without them, this book would not have been possible.


About seven years ago, after I finished my first book, my husband, Eddie Freyer, Jr., suggested I write the book of record on the Polly Klaas investigation. This would never have occurred to me. True crime is not my natural habitat. I don’t consume it and have never felt drawn to it as a writer. Even though “Polly Klaas” is a name that comes up every time we gather as a family, I didn’t think this was my kind of story. The central themes of my work are resilience and redemption. Polly’s fate was tragic and horrific. I didn’t want to write a book that glorified a killer or exploited the pain of others.


Then I did some research and realized the educational value and historical significance of this case. Unfolding at the dawn of the internet age, it harnessed new technology in pioneering ways, setting precedents that would be useful to future investigators and searchers. The case turned into a testing ground for new forensic tools, techniques, and procedures. As Tony put it, “It changed the way the FBI does business.”


I was intrigued to learn how relevant this thirty-year-old case remains today. As a case study, it has been used to train thousands of investigators in skills ranging from latent fingerprinting techniques to interview and interrogation methods. Eddie Freyer, Sr., now seventy-two, has given his Polly Klaas presentation hundreds of times, from Iraq to Macedonia. After three attempts to retire, he still teaches it at least once a month.


Eddie felt strongly that the case ought to be formally documented—comprehensively and accurately—while the people who lived it were alive and able to remember. Months before going to press, we lost two of them. FBI Special Agent Frank Doyle, who played a key role in the creation of the FBI’s first Evidence Response Team, died in December 2022. In February 2023, I went to Frank’s memorial with Eddie and former SWAT team leader Tom LaFreniere. Polly Klaas was mentioned in the service and the program. The day after Frank’s funeral, we lost Lillian Zilius, his supervisor and supporter. Polly Klaas meant so much to Lillian that her husband and daughter decided to forego a formal funeral and donate the cost of a service instead to the Polly Klaas Foundation.


Like Frank and Lillian, most agents and police officers who worked to save Polly were deeply and personally affected, in meaningful, lifelong ways. Many were also scarred. Their pain doesn’t compare to that of Eve Nichol, Marc Klaas, and every member of Polly’s family. But I was struck by how many cops and agents wept in their interviews, surprising even themselves with the magnitude of their emotions and the persistence of long-suppressed trauma. Some, like Petaluma detective Andy Mazzanti, found catharsis and healing in telling stories they had never before shared, with the press or even with family.


This book interweaves the point of view of investigators like Eddie, Andy, Tony, Larry, Frank, Lillian, and Tom, who worked for sixty-five days to assess 60,000 tips and investigate 12,000 active leads. The focus of the book is the investigation and the lessons learned—investigative insights shared and used to solve future crimes.


The story is based entirely on facts from verifiable sources. I minimized journalistic attributions for the sake of narrative flow, but I’ve listed all sources in the end notes, along with a brief explanation of how each chapter was reported. The manuscript was fact-checked by investigators for accuracy, and peer-reviewed by journalists to help me detect reportorial blind spots or bias toward law enforcement. I made great efforts to fact-check and “triangulate the truth” by corroborating key facts—particularly recollected dialogue—with multiple sources.


Most of the details, facts, and dialogue came from primary sources documented in 1993—police reports, FBI records, recorded interviews, public records, and VHS tapes. Lengthy dialogue in interview scenes was captured in audio and video recordings and/or transcripts. What appears on the page is very close to verbatim, with minor cuts for length and clarity. Witnesses’ and investigators’ thoughts (and quotes) were largely recorded in 1993 investigative reports or recounted three years later, during the 1996 trial. In a few scenes, brief, quippy exchanges were recounted to me in interviews many years after the fact.


All sources were obtained legally and without the need for a Freedom of Information Act (FOIA) request. Greg Jacobs, the Sonoma County assistant district attorney who prosecuted the murder trial, entrusted me with 12,000 pages of trial transcripts and seven banker’s boxes of primary sources, many of which are not easy to obtain through public records requests. Defense attorney Barry Collins lent me the original folder he was handed when he accepted the case. Other detectives and agents dug boxes of original case files out of their attics and garages and loaded them in my car.


Thoughts, quotes, analysis, and emotional impressions came from more than 300 interviews with detectives, FBI agents, and volunteers who searched for Polly, as well as subject-matter experts who could add insight and perspective. I mined some quotes, dates, and atmospheric details from hundreds of newspaper stories, mindful that errors are likely in anything reported on deadline in the middle of a crisis fraught with misinformation. Many of these news stories are missing in online databases; most were physical newspaper clippings saved by sources.


Of the twenty-nine FBI agents I reached out to, twenty-four agreed to help me (including Director Louis Freeh). Of the twenty-five police officers, sheriff’s deputies, and other local law-enforcement agents, only one opted out. They all spoke candidly and let me call them as often as I needed. Most let me interview them at least twice; some more than a dozen times.


I approached various members of Polly’s family to see if they wanted to participate in the writing or fact-checking of this book. Polly’s mother, Eve Nichol, wished me luck, but said she couldn’t help—it was too painful. After meeting Marc Klaas in person at a KlaasKids event, I reached out to him in 2016 and 2022, but he never responded. (Eddie, who knows Marc, made sure he knew about this book.) Since Eve and Marc were integral to the story, I represented their point of view and voice through dialogue recorded by others in newspapers, magazines, and TV shows, as well as public records existing in the case files. Polly’s sisters, Annie and Jessica, did not want to be involved. Polly’s best friend, Annette Schott, also declined. I respect their choices.


Gillian Pelham and Kate McLean—Polly’s twelve-year-old friends who witnessed her abduction—chose to help me. Gillian, a lawyer in Manchester, England, committed to accuracy, spent hours with me on Zoom, helping me check not only my facts but my assumptions. Gillian read and fact-checked every chapter in which she or Kate appeared.


Kate McLean agreed to talk with me—strictly on background, with clear boundaries—preferring not to be interviewed or quoted, but willing to help me understand these events with greater nuance and context. She asked me not to reveal anything about her adult life. I honor her wish, and I hope that other journalists will respect her desire for privacy. Kate and Gillian both granted me permission to answer a question I expected readers would wonder: Are they okay? Not only are they mentally and physically healthy and resilient, they are kind, well-grounded, intelligent, and professionally successful. Yes, they are still close friends.


I sent two handwritten letters to Richard Allen Davis on Death Row in San Quentin. He never responded.


While my narratives are always aimed at delivering a fascinating and fast-paced read, my goal for this book was to present a story that would be useful: to investigators who can learn from a nuanced case study, or to readers who want a fact-based, realistic account of the inner workings of an investigation. My greatest hope is that this story helps someone I may never meet in ways I can hardly imagine.



Footnotes


1 Also, he’d put me through a background check and thorough vetting, as Tony later admitted. “Old habits die hard.”


2 I made conscious efforts to check myself for bias and fact-check Eddie’s recollections as thoroughly as I did with every other source.











Locard’s Exchange Principle: Every contact leaves a trace.


—EDMOND LOCARD, 1934


“Wherever he steps, whatever he touches, whatever he leaves—even unconsciously—will serve as a silent witness against him. Not only his fingerprints and his shoeprints, but also his hair, the fibers from his clothes, the glass he breaks, the tool mark he leaves, the paint he scratches, the blood or semen he deposits or collects—all of these and more bear mute witness against him. This is evidence that does not forget. It is not confused by the excitement of the moment. It is not absent because human witnesses are. Physical evidence cannot be wrong; it cannot perjure itself; it cannot be wholly absent. Only in its interpretation can there be error. Only human failure to find, study, and understand it can diminish its value.”


—PAUL LELAND KIRK, CRIMINOLOGIST, 1953













PART I



SOMEWHERE OUT THERE













chapter one



THE SLEEPOVER
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October 1, 1993, 3 p.m.—Petaluma, California


ON THE FIRST FRIDAY OF OCTOBER 1993, A TWELVE-YEAR-OLD GIRL WITH A dimpled grin burst out of the week’s final class at Petaluma Junior High. Polly Klaas was dressed in a turquoise T-shirt and loose patterned shorts, her purple backpack stuffed with seventh-grade textbooks, crumbs, and a three-ring binder. Polly scanned the carpool lane for her mother. At breakfast, she had asked her mom if a friend could spend the night.


“Well, maybe,” her mother told her. “But you have to clean your room.”


It was a deal. She’d even vacuum. Polly and her friends, Kate and Gillian, planned the details at lunch, conspiring to make it a sleepover. They’d dress up, play games, and probably find some new way to prank one another. Last weekend, sleeping over at Gillian’s house, they had stayed up until five a.m. Polly brought a tape of Gregorian chants to play while telling scary stories in the dark. They enlisted Gillian’s brother to rap on the door on cue to make it even more eerie.


Sleepovers were on Polly’s list of all-time favorite things. She loved theater, ice cream, music, jokes, pizza, costumes, Broadway musicals (especially Phantom of the Opera), and novels (Little Women and mysteries). She had a kitty named Milo, who came after Spooky, who was run over by a car. Her favorite color was purple. She knew by heart the lyrics to her favorite song, “Somewhere Out There,” and she sang it a cappella. She enjoyed playing Super Nintendo games, recording skits with friends on audio cassettes, and renting movies from Kozy Video. She hated history, show-offs, strangers, snobs, long hikes, and being alone in the dark. She still called her parents Mommy and Daddy and wished they were still married.


Three months from her thirteenth birthday, Polly was on the cusp between cute and beautiful. Four-foot-ten and eighty pounds, she still had the body, unblemished skin, and baby teeth of a child. But she had recently started to ask her mother, “How do I look? How’s my hair?” and “What should I wear with these pants?” Everyone said how pretty she was, and she had done a bit of modeling for a children’s clothing catalog. But when someone paid her a compliment, she didn’t know what to say, so she would look down and whisper, “Thank you.” Lately, she’d caught her mother glancing up from the morning paper and gazing at her wistfully.


“What are you looking at, Mom?”


Her mother would smile. “Oh, nothing.”


Polly could be sassy, but she adored and admired her mother. Until recently, she had preferred her mom to pick out her outfit every day. This fall, back-to-school shopping was a major event. They went to Mervyns and Ross so Polly could choose her own seventh-grade wardrobe: Converse high-tops, loose-fitting jeans, and baggy hoodies. She wasn’t exactly into grunge, though she liked leggings with oversize flannel shirts—nothing sleek or skimpy. Sometimes she wore skirts around the house, but rarely in public. What if she had to bend over? She and her friends played around with makeup, but she never left the house wearing it.


Polly had been anxious about going to junior high, about leaving middle school classes with a few dozen kids to enter a school with 700 or 800 students and a schedule of changing classes. What if she couldn’t find her locker? What if she forgot where to go? Could she keep up with all the homework? Would she get lost in a sea of kids?


The middle-school years had been difficult. Polly went to three different schools in fifth grade before moving to Petaluma at the start of sixth. She was extremely shy, especially around new people, and it was hard to make friends. Because she was pretty, some peers mistook her shyness for standoffishness and labeled her a snob. But at Cherry Valley Elementary school, things had gotten better. Other sixth-graders were drawn to her charm and wit, and a few went out of their way to befriend her. There was a bit of middle-school drama—cliques and jealous mean-girl stuff—but she’d found a circle of close friends.


Now, a month into seventh grade, Polly was finding her place in the world and in the halls of Petaluma Junior High. Built on a hill overlooking the valley, it was a classic California school: outdoor lockers and a courtyard where kids could gather for lunch. Polly was making straight A’s and was recognized as one of the best clarinet players in the band.


One of the best things about junior high was that it had an actual drama class. On stage, Polly’s shyness melted away. A year ago, she had played the lead role of the Chief in a sixth-grade play, Where in the World Is Carmen Sandiego? To give the crew time to change sets mid-scene, she learned to stall and improvise. In one such moment, she inspected a phone that might have been “bugged.” Out popped rubber insects and spiders, surprising her drama teacher and making the audience roar. This year, she was crushed when laryngitis prevented her from auditioning. She dreamed of becoming an actress like Winona Ryder, who grew up in Petaluma.
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A LITTLE BEFORE three p.m. Polly saw her mother’s Colt Vista wagon pull into the carpool lane. Polly bounded over to the car and climbed in. She greeted her mother and her blue-eyed, six-year-old half sister, Annie.


Their mother, Eve Nichol, was forty-four years old, a gentle, slender brunette with a narrow face and sad brown eyes. Born in Brooklyn, she was the only child of Austrian Jews who had survived the Holocaust in Austria and the Nazi bombing of London. Eve’s father, Eugene Reed, was a PhD and an engineer elected to the National Academy of Sciences. He spoke with Polly on the phone every week, and they had a routine: She’d tell him jokes and make him laugh with skits in various accents. (She could do a hilarious Elvis impression.) He and Eve’s mother, Joan, had retired in Pebble Beach, 160 miles south of Petaluma on the Monterey Peninsula. Polly visited them often and enjoyed long summer days roller-skating on their deck and having picnics on the beach. Eugene and Joan spent Mother’s Day on the shore with Eve and the girls, watching Polly and Annie romp through the surf and dig in the sand.


Eve worked in sales and marketing for Bio Bottoms, a local catalog company that sold cloth diapers and children’s clothing. It was the source of many of Polly and Annie’s clothes, and Polly had modeled a jumper in their catalog. Eve was allowed to take a late lunch break to pick up the girls from school and drive them home. Polly was old enough to look after Annie now, so Eve could go back to the office a few blocks away and finish her workday.


Eve had been divorced for nine years from Polly’s father, Marc Klaas, who ran a Hertz rental car franchise at the Fairmont Hotel. They’d had, as Marc liked to put it, “a lousy marriage and a great divorce,” and now they shared custody of their only child. Polly spent weeknights at her mother’s house, but often spent weekends at her father’s condo in Sausalito, where she had her own room. Marc was a doting and protective dad who nurtured his daughter’s mistrust of strangers and bristled when he learned that a boy at her school had a crush on her and was calling several times a week.


Polly’s half-sister, Annie, was the daughter of Eve and her third husband, Allan Nichol, an architect who had three children from a previous marriage. Eve and Allan had separated, but were still married and in close touch. They had different parenting styles and were getting counseling, trying to patch things up. Allan lived around twenty miles north, in Santa Rosa, where Polly and Annie spent time with their step-siblings, though they never used the word “step.” Polly and twelve-year-old Jessica shared a deep bond.


After picking Polly up from school, Eve drove downtown to treat the girls. Polly craved an Icee, and Annie wanted stickers. Afterward, Eve dropped them off at home around three-thirty p.m. and drove back to work a few blocks away. Polly called and begged her to let a second friend sleep over. Eve agreed, as long as she kept her end of the bargain. Polly promised to clean her room before her friends came over.


Their home at 427 Fourth Street was a two-bedroom Victorian cottage, light gray with white trim, four blocks from downtown Petaluma. It sat one block from the corner of Fourth and G Street, catty-corner to Wickersham Park and its trellis-shaded benches. The 1906 rental had a small front porch where the girls parked their bikes, a bay window that overlooked the street, and a wooden deck in the back. The neighborhood was filled with modest homes, closely spaced.


It was a quiet part of west Petaluma, then a city of 45,000 residents. Though it was only forty miles north of San Francisco, Petaluma felt like a small town from a simpler time. It had the double distinction of being the “egg capital of the world” and also the wrist-wrestling capital, with statues erected in honor of both. George Lucas and Francis Ford Coppola had chosen Petaluma’s iconic main drag for the filming of American Graffiti (1973), a coming-of-age film about drag racing, muscle cars, and teenage love in the 1950s and ’60s. It later became the set for Peggy Sue Got Married and TV commercials for Ronald Reagan’s 1984 presidential campaign. The historic downtown embodied an age of innocence Reagan sought to capture with his “Come Home, America” theme. Like many parts of Sonoma, Petaluma felt like the kind of place where bad things didn’t happen. Maybe it was the fresh ocean air that slid across the Pacific and over the Marin headlands, or how the light there always looked golden.


Eve returned home from work around five-thirty p.m. and parked on Fourth Street, leaving the driveway open for Aaron Thomas, a nineteen-year-old tenant who rented a mother-in-law unit behind the house. The tiny dwelling had a kitchen but no bathroom, so to use the toilet or take a shower, he had to walk out his front door, climb onto Eve’s deck, and go through a service porch, which led to a small bathroom. The service porch shared a door with Eve’s kitchen, and that door was almost always locked.


Eve ordered a pizza from Domino’s while Polly did her chores. She made her bed, tucking floral sheets into place on the top mattress of the wooden bunk bed she shared with her sister. (Annie would sleep with Eve that night so the big girls could have fun.) She hung her pink robe on the corner of the bed and returned bright-haired trolls and books to her shelves. Not exactly tidy, but enough to pass inspection.


Polly walked to the back of the kitchen and unlocked the door to the service porch, where the vacuum cleaner was stored, and brought it back to her room. The roar of its suction filled her ears as she swept it across the blue floral area rug that covered the hardwood floor. She vacuumed around a keyboard and chair, a toy shopping cart, and bins of stuffed animals. When she was finished, she flipped the off switch and brought the vacuum cleaner back to the service porch, closing the door behind her.


She might have forgotten to lock it.
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AROUND SEVEN P.M. a white Toyota Tercel pulled up to the house and twelve-year-old Gillian Pelham hopped out. Gillian and Polly had met in sixth grade at Cherry Valley Elementary, where they got to know each other in band class. Gillian played the flute and Polly the clarinet. Now they made music together in the junior high band. Gillian brought her sleeping bag, a Monopoly game, and a plastic bag filled with clothes. She’d packed a brand-new long-sleeved nightgown, white flannel with red stripes and tiny hearts, a gift from her grandparents.


Gillian’s mother spoke briefly with Eve as the girls ran off to Polly’s room. Their other friend, Kate McLean, wouldn’t be there for another hour or so—her family was going out for pizza—so the girls played Super Nintendo games and fiddled with Gak, a gooey slime toy. They were happy that Kate would be able to join them after all. She’d left her soccer game that day with a stomachache, and her mother had thought about keeping her home. But Polly had gotten on the phone to persuade Kate’s mother. Polly could be quite charming.


Polly and Gillian wanted to get ice cream, so Eve gave the girls money for Starnes Market, a neighborhood store about a block from the house. Polly had been there many times to buy treats with Annie or milk for her mom. The girls were back in less than five minutes, still eating their cups of mint chocolate chip.


Eve was taking a bath with Annie when Kate’s mother dropped her off around 8:15 p.m. Polly had put on Mickey Mouse ears, and Gillian was wearing a hood with antlers. When Kate arrived, they were perched on either side of the front porch, poised like two stone lions. Kate got out of the car dressed like a hippie, in floppy pants and a tie-dyed shirt, carrying a stuffed dragon and her sleeping bag. The girls greeted one another and went inside.


As Alice McLean was backing her van out of the driveway around eight-thirty p.m., she noticed a man walking down the sidewalk. He was dressed in black and was carrying a bag. Her van was blocking the sidewalk, directly in his path, and he was walking toward it, not appearing to alter his pace or slow down. She jerked the van forward to get out of his way. She only saw him in profile and noticed his hair had a swept-back look.


In Polly’s room, the girls messed around with clothes and makeup. Polly changed into a hot pink samba top with a little tie at the waist and a white denim miniskirt, a hand-me-down from her father’s girlfriend, Violet Cheer. Halloween was just a few weeks away, and she wanted her friends to make her up “so she looked dead.” Gillian and Kate whitened Polly’s face, applied a slash of red lipstick, and used dark eye shadow to make her eyes ghoulish. Polly looked at herself in the mirror, initially pleased with the effect, but then something made her recoil.


“Get it off me! Get it off me!”


She ran to the bathroom and washed her face. Then she felt better.


Sprawled on the floor of Polly’s room, they played a board game called Perfect Match, a funny spoof on dating, though none of them had ever been on a date. Boys were barely on their radar. They had recently gone to the first junior-high dance, where Gillian and Kate had witnessed Polly’s first slow dance. At the end of the song, the boy surprised Polly by leaning in for a little kiss. It was her first, and Polly looked mortified, but her friends believed she was secretly pleased.


Eve popped in around ten p.m. and told them to keep it down. She was fighting a migraine, and Annie was already asleep. She said they could stay up a little while longer, but not past eleven. Before going to bed, Eve checked the front door to make sure it was locked.


“Good night,” Eve said.


“Good night, Mommy,” Polly said.


Eve closed both doors to the Jack-and-Jill bathroom that separated her bedroom from Polly’s and crawled into bed next to Annie. She could still hear muffled laughter through the walls. At least they were having fun. Eve took a sleeping pill, read for a while, and sank into sleep.






[image: image]








AROUND 10:30 P.M., Kate was lying on her belly on Polly’s rug, chin propped on her hands. Gillian was sitting facing the door. Polly stood up from the board game to go and get the sleeping bags from the family room. She opened her bedroom door.


In her hallway stood a stranger. It was a man they had never seen before, dressed in all black. Black eyes. Black hair. His beard was charcoal gray, peppered with white streaks. In his right hand, he carried a black duffel bag. In his left, a kitchen knife.


“Don’t scream,” he said, “or I’ll slit your throats.”















chapter two



THE STRANGER
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Friday, October 1, 10:30 p.m.


THE MAN IN BLACK ENTERED POLLY’S ROOM, SO BIG HE FILLED THE WHOLE DOORWAY. The knife in his hand was long and thin, with a wooden handle and three steel rivets.


“Get down on the floor,” the stranger said. His voice was calm and clear.


He told them not to look at him, to lie facedown, heads toward the wall, with their hands behind their backs. They did what he said.


“Don’t be scared,” he said. “Just stay calm.”


Gillian, facedown on the carpet, wondered if this was real. This must be a joke, she thought. She giggled. This sort of thing only happened in the movies.


“Don’t worry, I won’t hurt you,” he said. “I’m just doing this for the money.”


Polly was an avid prankster. Maybe this was her latest ruse. This guy was really convincing. Scary. But he also looked kind of normal. Not like someone she should fear. Maybe he was a friend of the family. An uncle in on the joke.


“Why are so many people here?” the man said. “There shouldn’t be so many people.”


It was a sleepover, the girls explained.


“Who lives here?” he said.


“I do,” Polly said.


“Where are the valuables?”


Polly told him she had thirty dollars in a pink jewelry box. It was on the top shelf of her dresser. He made no effort to find it.


“Please,” Polly said, “don’t hurt my mom and my sister.”


They were lying facedown in a row, like dolls. Polly, then Kate, then Gillian. One by one, they felt their hands being bound behind their back, tightly, first with some kind of silky cloth, and then with electrical cord. That’s when Gillian felt a stab of fear. Polly would never take a joke this far.


“Oh, it’s too tight!” Gillian said. “That hurts!”


The stranger loosened the knot.


“Don’t turn around,” he said. “Don’t look at me.”


He pulled a pillowcase over each of their heads and tied a gag around it. The gag hurt, and the floor was hard. Kate, who had a cold, found it difficult to breathe.


He wanted to know where the valuables were.


“Stand up,” he said.


Kate moved to stand.


“Not you,” he said, pressing her firmly back into the floor. She couldn’t tell if he was using his fist or maybe the butt of the knife.


Polly rose.


“I won’t touch you,” he said.


“Count to one thousand,” he told Gillian and Kate. By the time they finished counting, he said, Polly would be back, and he would be gone. They couldn’t see anything, but they heard footsteps growing softer. Under the pillowcases, through the gags, Gillian and Kate counted aloud, softly.


One.


Two.


Three…


The footsteps seemed to grow fainter.


Fourteen.


Fifteen.


Sixteen…


They counted slowly, starting and stopping, unable to see through the pillowcases.


Twenty-seven.


Twenty-eight.


Twenty-nine…


They wondered if he was still in the room, watching.


Forty-four.


Forty-five.


Forty-six…


They kept losing count, stopping and restarting. Somewhere in the hundreds, they felt sure he was gone. Maybe ten minutes had passed. Kate and Gillian wriggled back-to-back and tried to untie each other. It only seemed to make things worse. Kate scrambled to her feet, still bound and hooded, and searched blindly for the door. She found a door but wound up in the closet.


Gillian, a gymnast, sat on the bottom bunk, tucked her knees to her chest and pulled her legs through her arms. Once her hands were in front of her, she removed the gag and the pillowcase and bit at the ligatures binding her wrists, working the knot loose with her teeth. After freeing her own hands, Gillian untied Kate.


Gillian ran through the house, then out the back door and down the driveway on the side of the house, looking for Polly. It was so dark, and she was scared the man could be lurking in the shadows, so she didn’t shout or raise too much alarm.


Meanwhile, Kate dashed through the kitchen and into Eve’s room, where she flicked on the light and stood in the doorway.


“Eve, wake up!” Kate blurted. “Eve!”


Eve startled out of a sound sleep.


“A man broke into the house,” Kate said. “He had a knife. He tied us up. He threatened to kill us. And I think he took Polly!”


Eve blinked up at her, groggy and disoriented.


“Kate, you just woke me up,” she said. “You’ve got to be kidding me.”


“Eve, it’s not a joke!” Kate said. “There was a guy. He tied us up. We just got ourselves free.”


Irritation turned into confusion. Confusion bled into fear. Eve was on her feet now.


“Where’s Polly?”


“He took her.”


“Who took her?”


“The man!”















chapter three



THE FIRST HOUR
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Friday, around 11 p.m.—Polly’s House


“POLLY!” GILLIAN DARTED FROM ROOM TO ROOM, CRYING AND LOOKING FOR HER friend. “Polly!”


It didn’t take long to search the five-room house. No sign of Polly. Nothing seemed to be missing or disturbed. Kate and Gillian flung open the front door and ran onto the porch, yelling into the darkness.


“POLLY!”


No answer. They ran back inside.


“Eve!” they cried. “She’s not here!”


At 11:03 p.m., Eve dialed 911. Not quite thirty minutes had passed since the man had left with Polly.


“911 Petaluma.” A woman’s voice. Calm.


“Yeah, um, I’m sorry…” Eve began, her voice brittle.


“What’s the problem?” the dispatcher said. “Hello?”


“I just woke up,” Eve said. “I’m at 427 Fourth near G. Apparently a man just broke into our house and—and they said he took my daughter!”


“Do you know this man?”


“No, I just woke up and these two girls that spent the night—I spent the night with my other daughter—they just woke me up and said someone just broke into the house…”


“How old is your daughter?”


“She’s twelve and a half. She’s not here.”


“Okay. What’s your name?”


“Eve Nichol. Her name is Polly Klaas.”


“It’s what?”


“Polly P-O-L-L-Y Klaas. K-L-A-A-S.”


“Did they say why they took her?”


“I didn’t even hear anything! I was sleeping. They said a man came into the house and he tied them up and he ransacked the house, although I don’t see anything gone…”


“Are the other girls still there?”


“Yes! And Polly. And he took Polly!”


“Okay, I want you to stay on the phone with me. I’m going to get some officers over there. Did they see what kind of car they left in?”


“No, I got nothing from them.”


“Okay. Can I talk to one of the other girls?”


“Yeah.” Eve called for Kate, handed her the phone.


“Hi,” Kate said.


“Hi. This is the police. What happened?”


“Okay,” Kate said, her voice soft but steady. “We were in her room, and we were talking. She was sitting on the bed. And Gillian and I were sitting on the floor. And then this guy came in—I thought it was a joke. He had a knife.”


“He had a knife?”


“Yeah. He had a big knife. And he said, ‘Nobody move or I’ll slit your throat.’”


“How did… Where did he come in at?”


“We saw there’s a window open… so I guess he came in through a window.”


“Okay. Did you see a car or anything?”


“No. Then he took Polly away and then we heard the screen door bang shut. What happened was, so we were sitting there and he came in and he told us to be quiet and don’t scream—”


“When did this happen?”


“We don’t know. We weren’t… it was an hour… at least thirty… at a half an hour ago.”


“Is he a white male?”


“Yeah, and he has a dark beard.”


“About how old?”


“I don’t know, thirties or forties maybe.”


“How old are you?”


“I’m twelve. Like everyone else here.”


“Okay. And he was alone?”


“Yeah, he was alone. And he tied us up and put pillowcases over our heads.”


“He tied—”


“He used some sort of silky little thing to tie us up with.”


“Do you still have that stuff?”


“Yeah. Have it all. We got it off because our hands were starting to swell up and turn purple or something.”


“What is your name?”


“I’m Kate McLean.”


“How do you spell your last name, Kate?”


“Capital M, lowercase C, capital L, lowercase E-A-N.”


“Do you need an ambulance or anything like that?”


“No, our hands are just swollen and red.”


“Have you ever seen this man before?”


“Never.”


“Did he leave in a car—you don’t know. Did you hear anything else?”


“We heard the screen door bang shut. He kept telling us, ‘It’s okay. I’m not going to hurt you. It’s okay. Don’t cry now. I’m not going to hurt you. I’m not going to touch you. I just want money. Show me where your valuables are.’”


“Okay.”


“He said, ‘You get up,’ and I started to get up, then he tapped me on the back and said, ‘Get down, I meant her.’ He took Polly outside. We heard the screen door bang shut. We didn’t know what was going on. He kept saying stuff to her like, ‘I’m not going to touch you. It’s gonna be okay.’”


“Okay, what was he wearing?”


“I didn’t see.”


“Hold on… Okay, do you remember what he was wearing?”


“No, he made us lie facedown on the floor. I didn’t see anything but his face and the knife.”


“Have you called your mother yet?”


“No.”


“There’s another girl with you, too?”


“Yeah, Gillian.” Kate’s voice began to rise with emotion.


“Okay. Okay,” the dispatcher said. “I want you guys to stay in the house, okay?”


“Okay,” Kate whimpered.


“Did you get yourself loose? Is that what happened?”


“What happened was, he told us to count to one thousand.1 And then he said we could get up because he’d be gone by then.”


“Okay. We’ve got officers coming, okay?”


“There they are.”


“Do you see them now?”


“Yeah.” Another whimper.


“It’s going to be okay.”


Kate’s voice became small. “Can I call my mom?”


“Why don’t you wait, because the officer’s going to want to talk to you. Ask the officer, okay? Because it’s real important that he gets this information as fast as he can.”


“Of course. I’ll tell them everything I know.”


“But you talk to him about calling your mom, okay?”


“All right.”


“Is he there now?”


“He’s on the steps.”


“Okay, I’m gonna hang up. Bye-bye.”
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THE FIRST COP on the scene was Danny Fish, a twenty-seven-year-old officer four years on the job at the Petaluma Police Department. Fish had been on patrol, cruising in a black-and-white Crown Victoria a few blocks away, turning onto D Street from Lakeville. Friday nights were usually busy, but it was still early enough to be quiet. That’s when the radio barked his call number.


Lincoln 21, respond to a possible 207 at 427 Fourth Street.


A kidnapping—in Petaluma? They always said this job would be 99 percent boredom, 1 percent terror. Without turning on his lights or siren, he accelerated toward Fourth Street. Close behind was Vail Bello, the detective sergeant, who was pulling an overtime shift as the supervisor of the graveyard team.


At 11:15 p.m., twelve minutes after Eve dialed 911, eight minutes after being dispatched, Bello and Fish knocked on Polly’s door. Polly’s mother opened it. Dark hair. Dark eyes. Narrow face. Eve Nichol appeared disoriented, confused, perhaps groggy from the sleeping pill. Her voice was reedy and tremulous.


“Polly’s gone,” she said. “Polly’s been taken!”


Footnote


1 On the recorded 911 call, Kate says “ten thousand,” but in every subsequent interview, Kate and Gillian consistently said “one thousand.” Quote edited here for clarity.

















chapter four



THE TRESPASSER
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Friday, 11 p.m.—Pythian Road, Sonoma County


AROUND TWENTY-SIX MILES NORTH OF PETALUMA, IN A SECLUDED HOUSE IN THE Sonoma hills, a twelve-year-old girl was getting ready for bed. Kelila Jaffe was at home with her babysitter, nineteen-year-old Shannon Lynch, in a house she shared with her mother on 192 acres of forested land surrounded by parks and vineyards. Her home had a swimming pool, no neighbors in sight, and a web of overgrown fire roads to hike. The nearest neighbor was Sonoma State’s botany lab.


Kelila’s mother, Dana Jaffe, worked as a chef for John Ash & Co., an upscale restaurant in Santa Rosa known for wine country fare, locally sourced foods served at peak season and paired with the perfect vintage. She typically left for work in the afternoon and came home between ten p.m. and midnight. A few months ago, she had hired Shannon, a student at Santa Rosa Community College, to pick Kelila up from Herbert Slater Middle School and drive her to their home in the woods. Sometimes they’d stop for snacks. Then Shannon would cook dinner, wash dishes, and see that Kelila finished her homework before she played Nintendo.


Dana Jaffe’s twenty-five-minute drive home from Santa Rosa took her down Highway 12, a two-lane country highway that connected the town of Sonoma to the vineyards. A mile or two past the community of Oakmont, she turned onto Pythian Road, which led past the turnoff for Los Guilicos Training Center, a juvenile detention center. At the county line, the road pinched into a poorly maintained one-lane private road that snaked through stands of oak and madrone. At the edge of her property, she passed through a gate that, more often than not, remained open. From here, the road—a mile-long driveway that ended at the house—steepened into a hill that required down-shifting into second gear. Her woods had grown so thick that she had needed to hire woodcutters to thin them before fire season. When she got home around 10:45 p.m., Kelila was still up. Jaffe chatted with Shannon for about fifteen or twenty minutes, wrote her a check, and said good night.






[image: image]








A LITTLE AFTER eleven p.m., Shannon Lynch climbed into a 1986 Ford Escort and drove down the hill. Less than a mile from the house, inside the open gate, something unusual appeared in her headlights: a white Ford Pinto. The back end was angled diagonally off the road, the rear bumper against the embankment. It appeared to be stuck in a ditch.


Then she saw the man. He was standing near the trunk of the car, hunched over. As Shannon approached, the man looked up, rose, and turned toward her, seemingly surprised to encounter another car on this road at this time of night.


He’s not supposed to be here, Shannon thought. She immediately worried about Jaffe and Kelila, just up the road in a house by themselves. She braked to a stop. The man walked over to speak to her, so she rolled down her window, but only an inch. Her door was locked.


“What the fuck are you doing up here?” Shannon hissed through the crack in the window.


“I’m stuck,” he said. “I need some rope.”


“Are you illiterate?” she said. “Can you read?”


There were signs all over the place. Not a Through Road. Private Property. No Trespassing.


He told her to get out of the car. He said it “like he wanted to overpower the situation,” Shannon would later say, “like he wanted to be in control.” As he spoke, he leaned in and leered at her, his fingers snaking through her open window. So close she could smell him.


He smelled like he looked—as if he hadn’t showered in days. His beard was unruly, and his shoulder-length hair looked matted and greasy. He was wearing blue jeans, a dark sweatshirt, and tennis shoes. Shannon noticed his sweatshirt was inside out. Leaves and bits of brush were tangled in his hair.


“What’s up the road?” he demanded. “What’s up the road?”


Up the road, she said, were people who would call the cops. Then she pressed the gas and sped away as fast as the road would allow. At Highway 12, she turned right, toward Santa Rosa, and drove to the nearest pay phone she knew of, at Melita Road.


She shoved in a quarter. The call didn’t go through. She dialed 0.


“The phone ate my quarter,” she told the operator, begging to connect her with Jaffe. “This is an emergency.”


The operator told her to call the police.


“I don’t have time!” Shannon said.


She hung up, pulled out her parents’ calling card, and dialed Jaffe’s number.


It was 11:24 p.m. From the encounter to the call, maybe seven minutes had passed. This guy could be on his way up the hill. He might be approaching the house.
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KELILA AND JAFFE were already undressed and ready for bed when the phone rang. They were planning to sleep in the living room, by the fire, where it was warmer. Shannon sounded terrified.


“There’s a scary guy on the hill,” she blurted. “I think you need to call the cops.”


“How long ago did you see him?” Jaffe asked.


“He should still be there now. He’s walking toward your house.”


Jaffe quickly calculated the risks of being found alone with a young girl in the house, isolated, in the dark woods. Levelheaded under pressure, she didn’t feel afraid, although her instincts said they were in danger.


“Get dressed,” she told Kelila.


There was a stranger on their property, Jaffe told her daughter. They’d be safer in the car. Instead of being stalked, they’d confront him on their own terms. Kelila dressed quickly and grabbed a baseball bat and a can of mace. Out of the house in less than a minute, they didn’t waste time putting on any shoes. They got in Jaffe’s car, a red Toyota Corolla hatchback with Utah plates, and immediately locked the doors.


Jaffe drove slowly down the hill, expecting to encounter a silhouette in her headlights, a stranger walking up her road. He never appeared.


“If he’s supposed to be on the road,” she said to her daughter, “where is he?”


There was the car—a white Pinto—on her right, just inside the gate. It was obviously stuck. But where was the man? That’s when she decided to call the cops. She slowed down to look for the stranger and kept scanning the road all the way to Highway 12. He must be off in the woods, Jaffe thought. What is he doing?


She drove a couple of miles down Highway 12 to an adult retirement community where she knew of a pay phone outside Oakmont Market.


She shoved a quarter in. No dial tone. Shit! She only had one more.


She got back in the Corolla and drove until she found another pay phone at a gas station less than a mile away. At 11:42 p.m., Jaffe dialed 911 and spoke with a Santa Rosa police dispatcher.


“I just got home from work and my babysitter left,” she said. “She called me up about five minutes later and told me that there was some guy up on my road and the car is stuck. I got in the car with my daughter, because we live in a really isolated place. Nobody has any business being up there. I see the car, but I don’t see the guy, and she said he was, like, walking towards the house.”


“Okay,” the dispatcher said.


“I’d like to have somebody else come and check [it] out. She said he was kinda scary looking.”


“And where are you right now?” the dispatcher asked.


“I’m at a pay phone at Oakmont. I thought I’d wait for the sheriff at Los Guilicos on Pythian Road.”


The dispatcher took her name, her car make, model, and color.


It was a Friday night, and the dispatcher warned it might take a while to get an officer there. Jaffe didn’t feel comfortable going back to the house with a stranger somewhere out there in the woods. She said she’d wait for the officers at the intersection of Highway 12 and Pythian Road.
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EIGHT MINUTES AFTER midnight, a Ford Taurus and a Crown Victoria turned onto Pythian Road, both marked with the green-on-white stripe and yellow star of the Sonoma County Sherriff’s patrol cars. Two deputies, Thomas Howard and Michael Rankin, emerged in uniform: khaki shirt, dark green nylon pants, boots. They found Jaffe and her daughter waiting in their car.


Jaffe explained that she had seen the Pinto, but not the occupant, and she didn’t feel safe going home alone. They agreed to follow her up the road to investigate. If she wanted to press charges, she could have this man arrested for trespassing. She said she didn’t want him arrested, just escorted off her property. She led them to the Pinto, slowing at the bottom of the hill to warn them to downshift.


The man was leaning against his car, smoking a cigarette, as if he’d been expecting them.


Jaffe slowed, and he walked over to her car window. She thought he looked “swarthy, almost Mediterranean.” She rolled down her window slightly to talk to him, and his scent crept into her car. She would never forget how he smelled. “Like fear.”


“You’re on private property,” she said.


“I know.” He said he had seen the signs and tried to turn around. That’s how the Pinto had gotten stuck.


Jaffe said the two officers would assist him. He nodded and watched her taillights disappear up the hill.


Deputy Howard parked about fifteen feet downhill from the Pinto. He left the car running, headlights on, as he got out and approached the trespasser. Deputy Rankin pulled in behind him, turned on his spotlight, and aimed it at the Pinto. The reflective paint on Howard’s patrol car lit up in the dark. The scanner muttered in the background.


The trespasser appeared to be in his mid-forties, with black-and-white hair that fell in waves to his shoulders. His salt-and-pepper beard obscured his chin and neck. He wore a long-sleeved cotton shirt with yellow-and-blue horizontal stripes.


As Howard approached, the man looked around a few times and took a couple of steps away from his car. He appeared agitated—black eyes narrowed, face crumpled in frustration.


“I was wondering when somebody was going to get here,” he said. “Some lady just drove past without stopping.”


Howard informed the man he was trespassing and asked him what he was doing in the area.


The man said he was “sightseeing” and thought it was “a beautiful area” to check out. He said he was a welder in the Bay Area, and he was passing through on his way to visit his brother-in-law, who lived in Redwood Valley, just east of Ukiah. He said he’d pulled off the road to view the scenery.


“I don’t believe you,” Howard said, noting that it was pitch black.


Howard smelled the faint odor of alcohol on the man’s breath. He moved the beam of his Kel-Lite, a fourteen-inch black metal flashlight, over the man’s face, to see how his pupils would react to the outer beam. They didn’t appear blown or dilated, and they quickly constricted in the light. His balance seemed fine. His speech wasn’t slurred or rapid. Other than the smell of alcohol, the usual signs of intoxication were absent. But as they spoke, the man nervously ran his fingers through his hair, which was filled with twigs and bits of brush.


Deputy Rankin, in his backup role, sized up the scene before approaching. There was something off—the time of night, the situation, the way the trespasser looked—that made him grab his baton and slip it into the ring on his duty belt. Like Howard, he had a Glock .45 holstered on his hip. He viewed the Pinto’s California license plate from an angle and radioed it to dispatch: “Seven nine nine yellow Robert Ida.” He wouldn’t realize until months later that he’d read the first digit wrong. That seven was really a two.


After calling in the license plate, Rankin walked over to conduct a routine pat-search while the two men talked. He started at the top, walking his hands down the trespasser’s body in a systematic pattern, working from one side to the other, front to back, feeling for bulges that might be knives or guns. As he got to the trespasser’s waistband, he noticed the pants were wet. From sweat or urine, he couldn’t be sure. He paused to pull on a pair of leather gloves before completing the procedure. No weapons. No drugs. No contraband. Just a small flashlight in his left rear pocket. Rankin noticed the twigs and leaves in his hair. They looked consistent with the roadside vegetation. Perhaps they were from his attempts to push the car out of the ditch.


But things weren’t adding up. The man said he’d tried to place some dirt and brush under his tires to get traction. They didn’t see much evidence of brush or dirt under the car. He mentioned he’d had to change his shirt, because it had gotten soiled from attempting to push his vehicle out of the ditch.


They hadn’t asked about his shirt.


Something about the way he walked and moved suggested to the deputies that this man had been in prison. They asked if he was on parole.


“No,” he said.


They ran a check on his license but found no outstanding warrants. The name on the vehicle registration did not match the name on the driver’s license, because Rankin had misread the license plate number. The mismatch might have raised red flags, but the Pinto wasn’t listed as stolen.


Legally, they needed probable cause to conduct a search of his car. An odd story about sightseeing at midnight wasn’t probable cause. The only law they could tell he was breaking was trespassing. So they asked permission.


“Do you have a problem if we take a look in your vehicle?” Howard said.


“No,” the man said. “Go ahead.”


On the floorboard of the front passenger seat, they found a small brown paper bag containing three or four unopened cans of Budweiser beer, loose. In the back seat, they found a miscellaneous assortment of clothing. A brown paper bag with more clothing. A light blue athletic duffel bag with still more clothing. None of it looked suspicious. They opened the hatchback and saw a spare tire. After they’d searched the car, the trespasser reached for one of the cans of Bud, cracked it open, and began drinking it.


That wasn’t illegal on private property, but a twelve-ounce can of anything, wielded with skill and force, could be a surprisingly effective weapon. So they asked him to get rid of the beer, and he tossed it in the bushes. They made him retrieve it, pour it out, and toss the empty can in his car.


By now, the man’s behavior strongly suggested that something wasn’t right. But their options for dealing with him were limited. They couldn’t arrest him for an open container, because he was technically on private property—even though it wasn’t his. Trespassing was a misdemeanor, but the law required the property owner to issue a citizen’s arrest before the deputies could arrest him. Dana Jaffe didn’t want this man arrested—she just wanted him off her property.


Having no legal means to detain him, the deputies refocused their efforts on freeing his car. They just wanted to get him out of here. There had been a drive-by shooting elsewhere in the county that night, and they might be needed.


“Why don’t you take your push bumpers and push my vehicle out of the ditch?” the man said.


“We can’t do that,” Howard replied. It might damage the patrol car.


“Well, why don’t you try to push me out?”


Howard and Rankin got behind the car and heaved while the man pressed on the gas. The wheels spun, and the Pinto didn’t budge. They suggested calling a tow truck. The man pulled out his wallet to see if he had enough cash to pay for one. It contained about thirty dollars. Not enough.


Rankin decided to drive up the hill to Jaffe’s house to see if she had a rope or chain they could use to pull the car out. His instincts prickled, and he felt nervous about leaving Deputy Howard alone with this man.


“Code four,” Howard told him. Situation under control.


Deputy Rankin drove Howard’s car up the hill and knocked on Jaffe’s door. He asked her if she had AAA. She did, but she didn’t think her membership should pay for this stranger’s tow truck. If she didn’t want to file a citizen’s arrest and have him spend the night in jail, the alternative would be for the man to come back and retrieve his car at some point in the future. Jaffe just wanted him gone, so she looked in her garage and found a suitable chain for towing. Rankin took it and drove back down the hill. The deputies hooked the chain to the Pinto and the push bumper of Howard’s patrol car, which was pointing downhill after Rankin’s return. Backing the patrol car up the hill, they managed to free the Pinto.


The Pinto was facing uphill, and the man asked if he could drive up the road to turn around. They wouldn’t allow it. He would have to reverse down the driveway. It was steep and curved, but he showed no difficulty backing out. The man stopped, got out of his vehicle, and started walking toward Rankin’s car, as if he wanted to speak to him further. Rankin turned on the PA system and told him over the loudspeaker that he had to leave or be subject to arrest.


The trespasser shrugged, got into his car, and left. It was 12:46 a.m.


As the deputies left Pythian Road, they noticed the white Pinto parked on the side of Highway 12, just a few hundred yards down the road. He wasn’t breaking any laws, so they did not attempt to reengage.
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IN ALL, HOWARD and Rankin spent thirty-eight minutes engaged on the trespassing call. Six minutes into the encounter, at 12:14 a.m., Petaluma Police Department had sent out an all points bulletin via teletype, an electronic dispatch printed out by local terminals in surrounding law enforcement agencies. The APB reported a stranger abduction and described the suspect as a white man driving a dark gray Toyota Tercel—a make and model reported to the police by a thirteen-year-old neighborhood witness. These details would turn out to be inaccurate.


Howard and Rankin never heard the bulletin—which their dispatcher never broadcast.


Petaluma PD had tagged its APB with the heading “Not for Press Release,” hoping to avoid tipping off local news reporters, who were known to monitor police-radio channels. Seeing this instruction, the Sonoma sheriff’s dispatcher made sure not to announce the kidnapping over the radio.















chapter five



THE CASE AGENT
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Saturday, October 2, just past midnight—Windsor, California


WHILE THE TWO SONOMA COUNTY SHERIFF’S DEPUTIES WERE RESPONDING TO A trespasser near Pythian Road, a ringing phone stirred an FBI agent awake in Windsor, a wine-country town about thirty miles north of Petaluma. It was a clerk from the San Francisco FBI office calling about a bulletin that had come across the transom.


“Looks like you’ve got a kidnapping in Petaluma,” the clerk said.


Eddie Freyer jumped out of bed and dressed quickly. There wasn’t much to go on yet—the kidnapping report might turn out to be a false alarm, a runaway, or a girl sneaking off with her boyfriend. But if this was real, he’d have to cancel his weekend plans.


Freyer had spent that Friday afternoon abalone diving at Salt Point, swimming down through frigid waters into the shadowy kelp beds, hunting for mollusks the size of salad plates attached to the rocky Pacific floor. It was not easy to skin-dive ten or fifteen feet down, find a legal-size shell, and pry it off its rock with an abalone iron before running out of breath. But he thrived on physical and mental extremes. He loved shucking the mollusks from their mother-of-pearl shells, beating the tough muscles with a baseball bat to tenderize the meat, and sautéing thin strips of the shellfish in butter, white wine, and garlic. His wife and three young children feasted on his catch.


Freyer was the senior resident agent for the FBI’s Santa Rosa office, one of four hundred agents in northern California and 11,000 nationwide. He had worked bank robberies, extortions, kidnappings, and the occasional missing person. For a few years his job called for undercover surveillance, and he lived on a houseboat in Sausalito with an alternate identity and grew a beard that made his kids gawk and giggle when they visited “Edward Reardon.” He was now a member of the SWAT team, which he enjoyed not only because it kept him involved in all sorts of cases, but because the training—rappelling, shooting, and hostage simulations—was strenuous and fun.


He was an athlete, a serious runner, though he didn’t discover this until his mid-thirties. Before that, he was a smoker with a pack-and-a-half daily habit. One rainy night, after running out of Marlboros, he pulled on a jacket and grabbed his keys to head out into the storm for more smokes. He opened the door, squinted into the wind and spitting rain, and thought: Who the hell is in charge here? He closed the door, ripped his raincoat off, and never smoked again. The next day, he laced on a pair of running shoes and went on a jog. Six months later, with a book called The Self-Coached Runner, he started training to run 10K races at a 5:20 pace. Running tamped down the stress of the job. It also fed his competitive streak. In the Police Games, a sort of Olympics for cops and agents, he won medals in the biathlon (running and shooting), cross-country, and 5,000-meter and 10,000-meter runs. His twelve-member team had won the Hood to Coast, an overnight relay race from Oregon’s Mount Hood to the Pacific, just a few months ago, averaging a 5:32 pace for 197 miles.


Now forty-two, Freyer was approaching the prime years of his career. After two decades with the Bureau, he was the top agent in his office, overseeing an average load of twenty-five to thirty different cases. He served as a liaison between the FBI and local law enforcement agencies, and he was well respected by his peers, many of whom were his closest friends. His best friend, Tom LaFreniere, was an FBI agent who lived in Petaluma and worked on the narcotics squad in San Francisco. They had met while working together on the bank robbery squad. Now they trained together three to six days a month as members of the SWAT team. They started abalone diving together and shared a love of the outdoors. This off-duty weekend they had planned a backpacking trip in the Trinity Alps.


With his second wife, Sue, a fitness instructor with a sunny disposition, Freyer had a five-year-old son and two daughters, ages three and one. He had two older kids from his first marriage, twenty-two-year-old Eddie Jr., his namesake and spitting image, and a seventeen-year-old daughter named Tina, who had given him two grandsons. Freyer and Sue had been married for six years, and Sue was accustomed to the long hours and erratic schedule of the occasional big cases. Life had been fairly consistent of late, and Freyer was usually home for dinner. The family was his sanctuary, and when he walked in the door every night, he was able to leave his work behind. Off duty for the weekend, with his backpacking gear packed and ready to go, Freyer had watched the ten o’clock news before settling into bed.


He was asleep when the phone rang a little after midnight. News of a kidnapping triggered a spurt of adrenaline that brought him to instant alert. He jumped out of bed, pulled on a dress shirt, slacks, and tie. As he dressed, the phone rang again.


“I’ve got the father of the kidnapping victim on the phone,” the dispatcher said. “Want to talk to him?”


“Yeah, patch him through.”


It was Polly’s father, Marc Klaas. He was screaming in panic.


“I’ll be there in thirty minutes,” Freyer told him.


Before leaving the house, he called Tom LaFreniere, who lived in Petaluma.


“Get your ass out of bed,” Freyer said, explaining the situation. “I’ll pick you up.”


Around one-thirty a.m., they pulled up to 427 Fourth Street, already buzzing with crime scene chaos. The Petaluma Police had set up a roadblock and cordoned off the small Victorian house with yellow crime scene tape, protecting the outer perimeter. Flashing blue lights drew neighbors onto their porches and lawns, where they blinked in bleary-eyed disbelief at the cops swarming in every direction, the helicopters thundering overhead, and the sounds of voices echoing through the shadows. Inside the house, lights blazed behind the sheer lace curtains, and silhouettes moved through every room. Freyer and LaFreniere flashed their FBI badges at a cop, who waved them up the steps and through the front door.


A familiar face stepped forward to brief him. Sergeant Vail Bello was a detective on the force. Freyer had met him at a brass badge retirement dinner, and they’d chatted at interagency lunches designed to foster relations between the feds and the local cops.


“What do you have?” Freyer asked.


“The girls were having a slumber party,” Bello said. “They say a man came and took her.”


Bello loved patrol, the thrill of the chase, and he’d been rotated to investigations “kicking and screaming” a year and a half before. He had worked a whodunnit homicide—the body found in a dumpster—and an assault-with-a-deadly-weapon case in which the victim had been beaten within a centimeter of his life. But, like most of the guys on the force, he had never worked a kidnapping case. And certainly never a stranger abduction. That sort of thing didn’t happen in a town that averaged less than one murder a year.


Bello found the circumstances of Polly’s disappearance disturbing. He’d grown up here. It was a town with the usual crime. But things like stranger abductions didn’t happen in Petaluma. There had to be some logical explanation.1


“The parents are divorced,” Bello said.


Divorce suggested the possibility—the overwhelming statistical probability, in fact—that the child had been taken by an estranged parent.2 While exact numbers of child abductions have always been controversial (and sometimes dramatically inflated as a result of multiple reporting systems), the most rigorous dataset available at the time found that more than three-quarters of the children abducted were taken by either a non-custodial parent or family acquaintance.3


But in this case, Marc Klaas was cooperating fully. His voice rang with the timbre of panic. Eve believed the stranger abduction was real.


Bello said the cops had already scoured the house and searched yard to yard. They were knocking on doors and waking the neighbors.


Freyer had spoken briefly with Bello during his drive to Petaluma. Cell phones, relatively new and shaped like bricks, were notoriously insecure. Any reporter with a scanner could intercept the call. They’d been brief, avoiding any sensitive details about the crime.


“What do you need?” Freyer had wanted to know.


“I need a hundred guys here now,” Bello said.


“I’ll have you fifty by tomorrow.”


When the Federal Kidnapping Act was signed into law in 1932—on what would have been Charles Lindbergh, Jr.’s second birthday—it compelled the FBI to get involved after seven days, at which point it was presumed that state lines had been crossed. By 1993, that wait time had decreased to twenty-four hours—the window of time in which many missing kids were found or came back on their own.


But evidence suggested that even twenty-four hours was too long to wait. In cases where kidnapped children were murdered by their abductors, 89 percent of the victims were dead within twenty-four hours of disappearing, and 76 percent of the victims died within three hours.


Since a missing person case falls under the jurisdiction of local law enforcement, cops have to request help from the FBI, which has multi-state jurisdiction. Because kidnappers often flee across state lines, investigators must operate with the assumption of an interstate crime.


When he had reached for the phone to call Freyer, Bello knew what the feds could offer. Polygraphers. Profilers. Evidence Response Teams with better technology. SWAT teams. Plenty of backup. From that moment on, Freyer and Bello would be partners in charge of the case. Bello would direct the Petaluma police. Freyer would make decisions on behalf of the FBI. It would be a joint investigation, feds paired with local law enforcement agents at every level in the chain of command. Teamwork would be critical to bringing Polly home.


As the case agent, Freyer must make a very important decision. If he designated this as a kidnapping, they would get federal resources, lots of them, fast. But if he summoned the feds in full force and Polly turned up the next day, the error would be costly. The fallout could include his professional reputation and increased criticism from a public already unhappy with the rising count of missing children.


This was Freyer’s first time in charge of an abduction case, but the Bay Area’s unsolved kidnappings lingered over him. So many kids were still missing: ten-year-old Kevin Collins, who disappeared from a San Francisco bus stop in 1984. Amber Swartz-Garcia, a seven-year-old kidnapped in 1988 while jumping rope in her yard in Pinole. Thirteen-year-old Ilene Misheloff, who vanished in 1989 while walking home from middle school in Dublin. Jaycee Dugard, an eleven-year-old who went missing in 1991 while walking to the bus stop in Meyers.


The vast majority of kidnapped kids were taken by someone they knew, a family friend, an acquaintance, or someone who encountered them in the community.


Stranger abductions were incredibly rare—200 or 300 a year, according to the National Center for Missing and Exploited Children. Since August, there had been fewer than three dozen in a population of 260 million Americans. Most of the kids and teens kidnapped by strangers had been taken from a public place: a bus stop, in a store, or while walking home from school. That was the case for Kevin, Amber, Ilene, and Jaycee. All such cases resulted in media coverage and scrutiny, though it’s worth noting that almost all of the missing children who got enough press to become household names4—then and now—were white, with middle- to upper-class backgrounds.


Stranger abductions from the home were rarest of all. Over the previous three years, there had been only about twenty such instances, according to NCMEC. Sometimes an adult was home, sometimes not. But the facts of Polly’s abduction broke logic. For a stranger to walk into someone’s house, with a parent present, and kidnap a girl in full view of two witnesses… The most experienced kidnapping experts in the Bureau had never encountered such a circumstance.


Less than two hours into the emergency, there wasn’t nearly enough information to make a confident call. But a decision had to be made, and it would alter the course of everything that came after. Freyer took stock of the totality of the circumstances, considering all of the factors, trying not to weigh any one thing too lightly or heavily. As unfathomable and illogical as the situation appeared, he had to believe it was real.


Freyer called Lillian Zilius, the Supervisory Special Agent (SSA) who oversaw the Evidence Response Team (ERT).


“Hey, Lillian,” he said, “I think I’ve got a kidnapping up here in Petaluma.”


“What do you think it is, Freyer?” she said.


“I’m calling it a stranger abduction.”


“Okay. We’ll call up the ERT,” she said. “Let me call the troops and see who’s available, and we’ll get some people up there.”


As he waited for the ERT to arrive, Freyer approached Eve, who was curled around six-year-old Annie in a papasan chair. He leaned in.


“Eve,” he said softly, “we will do everything humanly possible to find your daughter.”


Footnotes


1 Though investigators didn’t think this was the case with Polly, 65 percent of missing children reported to the National Center for Missing and Exploited Children (NCMEC) in 1993 were runaways.


2 In 1993, the National Center for Missing and Exploited Children reported that 30 percent of its missing-child cases over the past three years were family abductions.


3 As research methods became more sophisticated, the number of estimated stranger abductions dwindled to less than 1 percent, the current figure cited by the National Center for Missing and Exploited Children.


4 Elizabeth Smart. Samantha Runnion. Natalee Holloway—the trend would lead to the coining of a term for the phenomenon—Missing White Woman Syndrome—when journalist Gwen Ifill remarked at a 2004 journalism conference: “If it’s a missing white woman, you’re going to cover that, every day.”

















chapter six



THE EYEWITNESSES
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Saturday around 1:30 a.m.—Petaluma PD


AS EDDIE FREYER AND VAIL BELLO SUMMONED HELICOPTERS AND BLOODHOUNDS, two Petaluma investigators were preparing to interview Kate and Gillian at the Petaluma PD, a few miles north of Polly’s house. They needed to talk to the girls—immediately and separately—away from the chaos of the crime scene. Kate and Gillian were, so far, the only witnesses, and the images, noises, smells, and sensations impressed in their memory would be integral to the investigation.


The girls were stunned and eerily calm. They were probably still processing, trying to make sense of what had just happened, wondering if it was real. But their calmness triggered doubts in investigators who were themselves wondering if this was real, who didn’t believe—or want to believe—such a thing could occur in Petaluma. Many of them had grown up here, some in Polly’s neighborhood.


Andy Mazzanti, thirty-three, a cop with a dozen years on the street, was a gentle Italian giant, six-foot-two, built like a lineman, with warm eyes, a square jaw, and a chevron mustache. His size and the eyebrows that knit themselves together on his forehead inspired his colleagues to nickname him “Mongo,” after the super-size outlaw who knocks out a horse with a single punch in the Mel Brooks comedy Blazing Saddles. Those same colleagues described Mazzanti as “one of the best cops I’ve ever known.” He was the kind of cop who sent sympathy cards and stayed in touch with victims who needed moral support. He was earnest and took things to heart.
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Gillian Pelham (top) and Kate McLean, photographed by investigators on the night of the abduction.
(COURTESY OF GREG JACOBS)


Newly assigned to investigations, Mazzanti was “just hours” out of a three-week course on sexual assault, child abuse, and homicide. This was his first call-out after deep training in interview and interrogation, and he hadn’t expected to put his new techniques and skills to use so immediately. While Kate McLean was ushered into a nearby room by another detective, Mazzanti led Gillian Pelham into the primary interview room, where a mirrored window allowed outside observation. At 1:45 a.m., he turned on the tape recorder and began the official interview.


“You can call me Andy,” he told Gillian.


Mazzanti built rapport by finding common ground. This was easy to do with Gillian, who giggled when she and Mazzanti discovered their birthdays were two days apart. A soft-spoken, intelligent girl with dark brown hair cut in a bob, Gillian mentioned she was a gymnast, still recovering from a recent hip surgery that inhibited her ability to run or jump. Mazzanti figured out they both saw the same orthopedist, a small coincidence that seemed to put her at ease. When Gillian seemed relaxed, Mazzanti explained the interview process.1


“I’m going to ask you some questions,” Mazzanti said gently. “I’m going to have you tell me the story of what happened, then later I’m going to have you tell me the story as if you were in a different position in the room.” Sometimes this subtle shift in point of view helped jog free a detail that otherwise might not surface.


In a small, sweet voice, with a pitch that made her sound younger than twelve, Gillian recounted her Friday, which began at six-thirty a.m. when she crawled out of bed and went downstairs to have a cup of tea and a Carnation instant breakfast bar, then grabbed her flute and boarded the school bus to Petaluma Junior High. After a typical seventh-grade day—history, English, math, lunch, science, and PE—she rode home in the front seat of the bus, let herself in through the back gate, practiced her flute, and phoned Polly around four p.m. to finalize their sleepover plans. She recounted how the evening began, with games and a dress-up session.


“Kate came over and we put makeup on Polly and made her look really weird, and then she washed it off and changed into a different outfit and then…”


“What was Polly wearing when you first put makeup on?”


“Um, I’m not quite sure.”


“When you say you made her look weird, what did you do to her?”


“Well, we made her face really white and put on dark lipstick and put dark stuff around her eyes so she’d look dead.”


“And after you guys did that, what happened?”


“She just washed it off and then we were just reading some sort of trivia questions—by then it was ten or eleven—and we were going to go into the living room. That’s when Polly opened the door and the guy with the knife was there.”


“Tell me in your own words what happened, and try to remember what you were feeling, if you smelled anything, if you heard anything… all your senses and anything you were thinking about.”


“When he tied our hands up, he tied it pretty tight,” Gillian said. “But when we complained about how tight it was, he said, ‘Oh, I’m sorry,’ and he just seemed like he didn’t really want to hurt us. He said, ‘I don’t want to hurt you. I just want some money and the valuables, so if you keep quiet no one will get hurt.’ Then he put pillowcases over our heads and gagged us. He asked us who lived there and why there were so many people and we explained to him that it was a sleepover.”


“Was there anything about his face that you noticed?”


“He had a really thick, dark gray beard, and it was sort of fluffy, and I think he had dark eyes, I don’t know. He was dressed in all black, I know that. And he was pretty tall. He looked like he was about thirty or forty.”


“When you say he had a dark gray beard, does that mean it was all one color, or was it more than one color?”


“It was sort of like a couple of different grays, like dark gray, and medium gray, and something between.”


“Do you know what kind of clothes he had on?”


“I think he was wearing a black turtleneck. Then it might have been just black jeans, I don’t know.”


“What about his shoes? Did you notice what kind of shoes he had on?”


“No.”


“What about smell? Did you smell anything in the room when he came in the room?”


“No.”


“His face, was there anything about his face that you remember besides the beard?”


“It was sort of round.”


“What about his nose?”


“It just seemed like a normal average nose. And he was pretty tall, too.”


“How tall do you think he was?”


“Um, somewhere in six feet.”







[image: image]









IN ANOTHER ROOM, Kate McLean was talking to lead investigator Dennis Nowicki, a grizzly bear of a man, six-foot-two like Mazzanti but a stouter 275 pounds, with a belly laugh and a bushy beard. A methodical investigator, Nowicki was a second-career cop, a former juvenile probation officer who often worked undercover, a workhorse who would take on any assignment. Nowicki was known for practical jokes, and he deployed sarcasm as an instrument of brotherly affection as well as a means of deflecting praise for his quiet acts of kindness.


Kate’s light brown hair fell past her shoulders in loose waves, and thick bangs brushed her forehead. Her freckled cheeks were flushed, her brown eyes red from crying. She had a deeper voice than Gillian, delivering facts in an assertive, no-nonsense tone. She spoke with measured self-confidence, thoughts spilling out in paragraphs punctuated by sighs that sounded like exasperation but might have been nervous energy. She described how she was positioned on the floor when the stranger entered the room.


Nowicki looked down at the written statement she had given and signed an hour or so after the kidnapping. It described, in seventh-grade cursive and spelling, the details she recalled.




We were sitting and Polly started to open the door. A man with a full balck beard, black hair, a round face and a neon yellow bandana wick a knife stuck his head and the knife in. He told us to lay face down on the floor and be quiet. He bound our hands with cloth and wire cord. He coverd our heads with pillows caces. He would apoligise if we told him our binding was to tight and loosen it a little. He asked who lived in the house. He kept telling us it would be allright. He told Polly to stand up. She whimpered and he appeared to be loosing his patience. He told her it was allright and he was not going to touch her anywhere. He lead her out reasuruing her all the way. He said he didn’t want to hurt anyone and just wanted money. We herd the door slam.





“It says, ‘We were sitting…’” Nowicki noted. “Who’s ‘we’?”


“Polly, Gillian, and I were in her room. Polly was seated on—”


“About what time was this?” Nowicki interrupted.


“Ah, I don’t know. I’d say around eleven o’clock. Maybe ten thirty, eleven o’clock.”


“Okay. And it says a man with a full black beard.”


“Full, yes. Like, thick…”


“You see my beard, okay?” said Nowicki. It was gray and close-trimmed.


“Uh, yeah. About that full.”


“Okay, was it bigger? As far as further away from the face?”


“Yes, it was. It was longer.”


“How much longer?”


“About two or three inches.”


“So its overall length—it was about yea big?”


“Yeah.”


“About three inches. Okay. And you mention here that he had a neon yellow bandana.”


“Yes. It was just like a length of cloth tied around his head.”


This yellow bandana, which Kate so clearly recalled, would be one of the inconsistencies that caused investigators to doubt the girls’ accounts. Gillian didn’t recall it.


“Now when this person talked, did he have an accent?”


“No, he had a calm voice. It was kind of soothing. I could recognize it but I find it difficult to describe. I wasn’t really paying attention to the voice. I was more paying attention to what he was saying, which was, ‘Calm down, calm down. If anybody talks, I’ll slit your throats.’”


There was a knock at the door. Someone needed to speak with Nowicki. The detective paused the tape recorder, excused himself, and left the room. When he returned, he explained that a police sketch artist was on the way. He’d ask them more questions and draw a composite sketch of the man in the bedroom.


Nowicki reviewed Kate’s description of the suspect. Big guy. Full black beard, about three inches long. Black shoulder-length hair. Kate confirmed these details with confidence.


“I could recognize him,” she said, even though “I was facedown on the floor with a pillowcase over my head for the most part.”


“When you first see him, where are you exactly in the room?”


“I was on the floor, seated.”


“Uh-huh.”


“Next to Gillian. If the door was here,” she said, gesturing, “the bed was here. And I would be seated right about here.”


“Were you seated, sitting just like that?”


“Well, a little bit farther.”


“Were your feet straight out?”


“I was laying down with my head on my hands like this,” Kate said. She got down on the floor on her stomach and propped her chin in her hands.


“Okay,” Nowicki said, “and then you look up.”


“Polly is starting to open the door to go get something. I look up—”


“Go ahead and have a seat,” Nowicki interrupted.


Kate ignored him and went on.


“And suddenly this strange man has popped his head and his hand with a knife through the door. He says, ‘Anybody says anything…’ or he says, ‘You’re alone, right? If anybody says anything then I’ll slit your throats.’”


“Okay.”


“‘Now roll over and lay flat on your faces.’ I thought he was some odd relation of Polly’s playing a joke.”


“Okay.”


“And after that, he started to cuss, and…”


“What did he say?”


“He said, ‘Fuck.’ And, um, he seemed to calm down and everybody was starting to whimper and get scared.”


“Go ahead and have a seat,” Nowicki repeated.


“I’d rather stand,” Kate said. “He started to bind our hands behind our backs. He used a silky length of cloth and some cord—we think it had wire in it. It was brown, some of the cord was brown, and some of it was black. After he finished doing our hands, he left our feet alone and got a pillowcase. First he put one over my head. I think it was because I was talking the most.”


“Okay.” Nowicki said. As an interviewer, he shifted into an active-listening approach with open-ended questions and minimal interruption.


“Then once he had got it over my head, he gagged me and then he did the same to Gillian, and he asked, ‘Who lives here?’ And Polly said, ‘I do.’ He ransacked the room for a while, and I think he gagged her. I heard him gagging her, I think.”


“Uh-huh.”


“But he didn’t put a pillowcase over her head, like he had to me and Gillian.”


“Okay.”


“I heard her say, ‘Ouch!’ as he was ransacking the room and something he was throwing around had dropped on her back. She said, ‘My mom and my sister are in the next room in their bed—please don’t hurt them, leave them alone.’”


“Uh-huh.”


“And he said, ‘You’re lying to me.’ And she said, ‘No, I swear, they’re in the next room, please leave them alone.’ And he said, ‘No, they aren’t supposed to be here. Why are they here?’ Then Polly pointed out there was money in her jewelry box, which was up there. And he said, ‘I’m just here for your money. I’m not here to hurt anybody.’ He kept repeating that, over and over again when one of us would start to whimper or sound scared. He tapped Polly and he said, ‘You come with me. I want you to show me where the valuables are.’”


“Uh-huh.”


“He took her away. I heard her door close and then I heard another door close. I think that was their front door.”


“Okay.”


“As he was taking her away, he kept saying over and over again, ‘It’s okay. I’m not going to touch you anywhere.’ So then when they were out the door Gillian and I waited. He had told us to count to a thousand.”


“Uh-huh.”


“And when we had counted to a thousand it would have been ten minutes and he would be gone. So we counted and about fifty we lost count, so for a while we just laid there and we waited. We were afraid that he would kill Polly if he came back to find that we had taken off our gags or anything so we waited and we waited and when we felt sure that he was gone, we counted to five hundred just to make sure. Our hands were starting to get swollen


and turn purple. From the binding being too tight. Oh, and by the way, whenever you told him your binding was too tight, he would loosen it.”


“Huh.”


“But not so much that you could get free. He’d just sort of reach over and tug on it.”


“Uh-huh.”


“Enough to loosen it a bit. Anyway, Gillian after a while started to struggle out of her, out of her stuff, and she and I stood back to back and worked on each other and after a while finally she was able to step over her hands and get them in front of her instead of in back of her and finally she got her binding untied, took off her pillowcase and her gags and she, um, took off mine also.”


“Okay.”


Kate exhaled. “By then we were positive that Polly had been left in another room of the house while he left us with all the stuff.”


“Uh-huh.”


Kate coughed. “And he, well, we got up and we looked around for a while and then I realized we’d better tell Polly’s mom. I went in without Gillian…”


“If I can interrupt, Kate,” Nowicki said, “what I want you to do is remember exactly everything you did.”


“Okay, Gillian and…”


“No, no, no, no—just continue after you went and talked to Polly’s mom.”


“I went out into the kitchen and looked around. We realized that Polly wasn’t there, and that Gillian and I also checked in the living room and all the rooms in there. We checked the back porch. We unlocked that door, so yes, it was locked that evening.2 But we unlocked it to search for Polly.”


“Okay.”


“We couldn’t find her anywhere and we were horrified. That’s when I went in to wake up her mom without Gillian and so her mom woke up and she thought I was playing some sort of joke on her for a while.”


“Okay.”


“She said, ‘Are you kidding me? You’ve got to be kidding me.’ Finally she got up and she seemed pretty shocked and so she called the police and that’s where the rest of the weirdness started.”


“In the beginning… Let me see your wrists.”


“This is the one that was bad. See? You can see some marks there and there.”


“Okay. Let me see your other wrist. Just relax your hand. Now, were your wrists tied in front of you or behind you?”


“They were tied behind us, with one wrist on top of the other, like I said, with two different things, and he’d loop it around one wrist and then he’d tie a knot and hook it around the other wrist, and he went on like that and used a lot of cord. See right there, it’s kind of reddish…”


“Uh-huh.”


“… still.”


“Now, where do you think he got the cord from?”


“I’m not sure. It looks sort of like cut… electrical appliance cord. You can feel that there, you can feel that there was wire in there and it was coated with plastic on the outside. It was shaped like electrical appliance cord, but it was thick.”


“Uh-huh. Okay.”


“It’s still back there in the sacred room that no one can enter.”


She was referring to Polly’s room, which had been cordoned off to protect trace evidence. Later in the interview, Kate called it “the forbidden room.”


“Just call it Polly’s room,” Nowicki said. “It’s not the forbidden room. It’s a crime scene, okay?”


“I understand,” Kate said.


“They’re there to collect every bit of evidence to solve this crime.”


Footnotes


1 Today, the FBI would bring in child and adolescent forensic interview (CAFI) specialists to interview young witnesses or victims, usually in a “soft room” with residential furniture, art on the walls, and other familiar comforts. But the practice didn’t emerge until 1996, when the American Professional Society on the Abuse of Children (APSAC) held the first forensic interviewing clinic to train people in interviewing children and adolescents. Today, the FBI employs more than two dozen CAFIs nationwide.


2 This was later disputed.
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